A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Duane Brennan asks this Court to review the decision of 

the Court of Appeals referred to in section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished 

decision in In re Detention of Brennan, filed October 20, 2015, attached as 

an appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. RCW 71.09.050(1) provides that after probable cause 

finding and before a commitment trial, a judge "may require" a 71.09 

RCW respondent to complete plethysmograph (PPG) testing. PPG 

interferes with the fundamental rights. Interference with a fundamental 

right is permissible only if the State can show a compelling interest and 

that such interference is nanowly tailored. Where the petitioner 

demonstrated PPG testing is widely regarded as unreliable in a forensic 

setting, and the State had less intrusive means of evaluating the petitioner, 

did the comt violate the petitioner's constitutional rights? 

2. Was the petitioner's counsel ineffective for entering into an 

agreement that inadvertently removed judicial oversight? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 30, 2012, the State filed a petition to commit Duane 

Brennan under 71.09 RCW. RCW 71.09.020 (18); CP 138-39. Brennan 

was then serving a sentence for two 2001 convictions for first degree child 

molestation, each a "sexually violent offense" under RCW 71.09.020(17). 

CP 138. The State also asserted Brennan suffered from mental 

abnmmalities including pedophilia and anti-social personality disorder 

(APD), as diagnosed by State expert Dr. Amy Phenix. RCW 

71.09.020(8), (9); CP 138. The State alleged these conditions led Brennan 

to have serious difficulty controlling his behavior and made him "likely" 

to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure 

facility. RCW 71.09.020(7), (18); CP 138-39. 

The State concurrently filed a certification for determination of 

probable cause listing the details of the 2001 offenses. CP 71-73; RCW 

71.09.040 (2). In 2001, Brennan was a babysitter for a seven-year-old boy 

and a nine-year-old boy. Two 10-year-old neighbor girls visited the boys' 

home. Brennan encouraged the boys to engage in sexual activity with the 

girls. In addition, Brennan attempted to have sex with the first girl. He 

also licked her vagina and had her put her mouth on his penis. CP 72. The 

second girl reported Brennan touched her vagina and had her put her hand 

down his pants. The second girl's brother saw Brennan appear to have sex 
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With her. Brennan pled guilty to the charges and later admitted to some of 

the acts forming the basis for the charges. CP 73. 

According to the probable cause certification, Brennan said he had 

additional victims in the same age range and stated a sexual preference for 

nine- to 14-year-old girls. CP 74. Brennan refused treatment in the 

DOC's Sexual Offender Treatment Program and told a program employee 

he believed he would offend again if released to the community. CP 74, 

137; see also CP 117-18, 121-22, 124, 126, 137 (disclosures to Dr. Phenix 

and prior evaluator, Dr. Hupka, as reported in Dr. Phenix's 2012 

evaluation). In a 2012 clinical interview, Brennan also told Dr. Phenix he 

normally masturbated to fantasies of 13- to 17-year-old girls, or women 

who appeared that age, but also masturbated to fantasies of pre-pubescent 

girls. CP 117. Based in part on the foregoing, Dr. Phenix concluded 

Brennan met commitment criteria. CP 74-77, 123-37. Dr. Phenix also 

relied on Brennan's childhood behavior issues, criminal history, and 

behavior while incarcerated. CP 125-26 (APD diagnosis). 

On December 3, 2012, Brennan signed a "Stipulated Order 

Affirming the Existence of Probable Cause and Directing the Custodial 

Detention and Evaluation of Respondent." Supp. CP 26-28. Brennan 

stipulated there was probable cause to believe he met 71.09 RCW 

commitment criteria. Supp. CP 28. He also stipulated that: 
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·Consistent with RCW 71.09.050(1), Respondent shall now 
submit to an evaluation by an expert chosen by the State. 
The evaluation may include any of the following 
procedures or tests if requested by the State's expert: 

c. Penile plethysmograph testing (PPG)[.] 

Supp. CP 27. 

A commitment trial was set for early 2013. CP 62, 69-70. On 

January 8, 2014, however, the parties agreed to a continuance, CP 61, and 

provided the comt the following information: Brennan had reported to his 

expert witness, Dr. Brian Abbott, that he had exaggerated his interest in 

children and the number of child victims to Dr. Phenix and to Dr. Hupka, 

who interviewed Brennan in 2011. CP 63. Dr. Phenix's evaluation relies 

on a number of Brennan's statements to Hupka. E.&;. CP 117-18, 122, 

124. Brennan told Dr. Abbott that, in fact, he did not experience the 

"thoughts, urges, or behaviors" concerning prepubescent children that he 

previously reported. He also told Dr. Abbott that he did not, in reality, 

have a number of unadjudicated victims. He did not believe he would 

reoffend if released. CP 64. Brennan made the earlier statements because 

he had been incarcerated most of his adolescence and adulthood and 

feared release. CP 63-64. 

Following Brennan's disavowal, Dr. Phenix re-interviewed 

Brennan, who confirmed he had fabricated his original statements. Supp. 
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CP 3. Dr. Phenix contacted the State to request Brennan be subjected to 

physiological testing, including a PPG and a sexual history polygraph. CP 

65; Supp. CP 3. Brennan, however, declined to participate. Supp. CP 3. 

On June 16, 2014 the State filed a motion and supporting 

memorandum to require Brennan to engage in the requested testing with 

an attached declaration from Dr. Phenix. Supp. CP 3, 14-19. The 

declaration repeats Brennan's earlier admissions. Supp. CP 15. Dr. 

Phenix notes that after re-interviewing Brennah in 2013 she determined "a 

sexual history polygraph as well as a [PPG] test battery would be 

appropriate to verify and/or clarify the sexual history previously reported 

by Mr. Brennan." Supp. CP 16. Moreover, it would help her form an 

opinion about Brennan's "mental state, sexual history and attitudes, and 

sexual arousal patterns." Supp. CP 17. Further, Dr. Phenix believed that 

under the law, the State had the right to a "current evaluation" following a 

probable cause finding. In addition, Brennan had agreed to engage in 

physiological testing if requested by an evaluator. Supp. CP 16. 

Dr. Phenix also asserted she had an "ethical duty" to ensure her 

evaluation was complete and accurate via the use of such testing. 

According to Dr. Phenix, such testing was commonly used and accepted 

within the "sexual offender field" for the assessment and treatment of 

sexual offenders and was "endorsed as a part of a comprehensive sexual 
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evaluation by various agencies and sexual offender organizations." Supp. 

CP 17. Further, a PPG could evaluate whether Brennan experienced 

deviant sexual arousal by measuring his responses to a variety of sexual 

stimuli. This would be useful in determining whether he suffered from a 

mental abnormality. This would also aid in determining the risk of 

reoffense, given the link between deviant arousal and risk. Supp. CP 17. 

Dr. Phenix also requested a post-PPG polygraph to detect any attempt to 

manipulate PPG test results. Supp. CP 18. 

Brennan filed a response arguing such testing was unreliable, 

unnecessary, and violated substantive due process. CP 16-38. He 

attached a declaration from Dr. Abbott. CP 40-49. Dr. Abbott noted that 

while PPG testing was accepted for use in treatment, it was not generally 

considered "reliable" for forensic evaluation. CP 41, 4 7. 1 Further, Dr. 

Abbott questioned the "validity" of PPG results, that is, whether a test 

measures what it purports to measure, in this case deviant vs. non-deviant 

sexual interests.2 He noted that no studies demonstrated the link between 

1 The measure of reliability is the comparison of two tests ("test/retest reliability") and is 
measured on a scale of 0 (fails to measure sexual interests) to 1.0 (accounts for all sexual 
interests). If the test were reliable, two test results would be expected to be similar. 
Subtracting the reliability value from 1.0 reflects the error involved in the measurement. 
CP 41. The single study involving a PPG used on child molesters revealed a 47 per cent 
error rate. CP 42. This falls below the accepted standard of reliability, or .80. CP 42. 

2 Dr. Abbott also observed that the actuarial instruments Dr. Phenix relied on, the Static-
99R and the Static-2002R, accounted for deviancy in other ways, and consideration of 
additional variables (such as PPG results) did not increase the instruments' powers of 
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PPG results and a mental abnormality (a legal, not a psychological, 

concept), a diagnosis of pedophilia, or sexual recidivism risk. CP 43. 

Finally, while Dr. Phenix claimed an ethical duty to ensure her evaluation 

was as complete and accurate as possible, this ignored that current 

standards promulgated by the Association for the Treatment of Sexual 

Abusers (A TSA) did not support use of PPG in forensic evaluations. CP 

46. Dr. Abbott opined that American Psychological Association 

guidelines prohibited the use of such PPG testing ethical g'rounds. CP 48. 

The court held a hearing on June 30, 2014. Brennan's counsel 

argued PPGs were unreliable as a test for sexual deviancy and the actuarial 

instruments already had a means of identifying, and considering, sexual 

deviancy without resorting to unreliable PPG results. RP 8, 12, 15. 

Counsel acknowledged a case relied on by the State, In re Detention of 

Halgren,3 approved expert testimony regarding PPG results under ER 703. 

But in Halgren, PPG results were obtained during earlier treatment. RP 

11. In contrast, PPG results were unreliable in a forensic setting. RP 11. 

In its oral ruling, the court ordered Brennan to submit to testing on 

the sole ground that he had previously agreed to the testing. Rather than 

prediction. CP 44-45. Another study had shown that sexual preference as measured by a 
PPG is not "significantly predictive of sexual recidivism," and thus two prominent 
researchers omitted PPG results from their Violence Risk Appraisal Guide - Revised, 
which replaced the prior the Sex Offender Risk Appraisal Guide (SO RAG). CP 45. 

3 In re Det. ofHalgren !56 Wn.2d 795,805, 132 P.3d 714 (2006). 
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inviting additional judicial oversight for the testing, the stipulated order 

was "self-executing," meaning Brennan had agreed to whatever testing the 

State's evaluator wished. RP 19-21. The court's written order also noted 

Dr. Phenix had requested the testing and found that "such information is 

routinely relied upon" by mental health professionals in conducting [71.09 

RCW commitment] evaluations for purposes of assessing sexual 

preferences and assessing risk." CP 13-14 (Finding 3). The court 

therefore found "good cause" for such testing. CP 14 (Finding 3). 

The court concluded "RCW 71.09.050 (1) grants [the State] the 

right to a current evaluation and specifically authorizes the Court to order . 

. . physiological testing if requested by the evaluator [including] PPG ... 

and polygraph testing." CP 14 (Conclusion 2). The court reserved ruling 

on contempt so Brennan could decide whether to participate. RP 30. 

At a hearing a week later, counsel informed the court Brennan 

would not submit to testing and argued the stipulation purportedly 

agreeing to testing was contrary to RCW 71.09.050(1), which required 

court approval for such testing. RP 34-36, 38. The court declined to 

reconsider its ruling. RP 36-37. The court also found Brennan was in 

contempt and, as a sanction, stayed trial while he remained at the sec. 

He could purge contempt by completing the testing.· RP 38-40; CP 10-12. 
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Brennan appealed the contempt order and the underlying order 

requiring him to submit to testing.4 CP 2-9. He argued the trial court 

order requiring him to submit to pre-commitment PPG testing violated his 

substantive due process and privacy rights because the court failed to 

recognize it had discretion and failed apply the statute in a way that 

balanced his rights against the State's interests. Brief of Appellant at 12. 

The Court of Appeals disagreed, finding in part that Brennan's 

rights were circumscribed based on 'his status a sex offender. Slip. Op. at 

4-6. Brennan now asks this Court to accept review of his case. 

E. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW UNDER RAP 
13.4(b)(3) BECAUSE THE CASE PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT 
CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION. 

This Court should grant review because the case presents a 

significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 

13.4(b)(3). The superior court ruled in part that RCW 71.09.050 (1) 

authorized testing upon any request by a State's evaluator. But, as a 

number of courts and commentators have observed, PPG testing is widely 

regarded as unreliable in a forensic setting. Moreover, the State has 

alternative, less intrusive means of evaluating for commitment criteria. In 

failing to recognize its own discretion under the statue and in failing to 

4 See Diaz v. Washington State Migrant Council, 165 Wn. App. 59, 71 n.4, 265 P.3d 956 
(2011) (contempt order and underlying order appealable of right) (citing RCW 7.21.070). 

. . 
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apply the statute ·in a manner that satisfied Brennan's substantive due 

process rights, the court's order violated Brennan's rights. 

Under RCW 71.09.050(1), within 45 days after the completion of 

the probable cause hearing, the court shall conduct a trial to detennine 

whether the person should be committed. "The prosecuting agency shall 

have a right to a CUITent evaluation of the person by experts chosen by the 

state." Id. The court "may require" the 71.09 RCW respondent "to 

complete any or all of the following procedures . . . if requested by the 

evaluator: (a) A clinical interview; (b) psychological testing; (c) 

plethysmograph testing; and (d) polygraph testing." Id.5 

The statute's plain language, while allowing for such testing, 

leaves to the judge's discretion whether such testing is required. See State 

v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472,477, 973 P.2d 452 (1999) (rule's use of the word 

"may" denotes judicial discretion). A court's failure to exercise discretion 

is an abuse of discretion. In re Detention of Mines, 165 Wn. App. 112, 

125,266 P.3d 242,248 (2011). 

The statute lists the types of testing a court may order if requested 

by the State's evaluator. PPG testing is not, however, a "run of the mill 

5 In In re Detention of Hawkins, 169 Wn.2d 796, 805, 238 P.3d 1175 (20 I 0), this Court 
held the applicable statutes prohibited the State from compelling 71.09 RCW respondents 
to submit to polygraph examinations. In 2012, however, the legislature amended the 
statutes to explicitly provide for polygraph and other physiological testing. Laws of 
2012, ch. 257, §§ 4, 5 (eff. July I, 2012). 
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medical procedure." United States v. Weber, 451 F.3d 552, 562 (9th Cir. 

2006). The examination requires procedures that courts have generously 

described as "intrusive," United States v. McLaurin, 731 F.3d 258, 262-63 

(2d Cir.2013), and "especially unpleasant and offensive," Berthiaume v. 

Caron, 142 F .3d 12, 16 (1st Cir. 1998). The description of the procedure 

is one which "one would expect to find ... gracing the pages of a George 

Orwell novel." Weber, 451 F.3d at 554. The testing involves placing a 

mercury strain gauge around a man's penis. ·state v. Riles, 135 Wn.2d 

326, 343 n.57, 957 P.2d 655 (1998), abrogated on other grounds by State 

v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 792, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). The test 

subject is then "instructed to become fully aroused, either via self

stimulation or by the presentation of so-called 'warm-up stimuli' in order 

to derive a baseline against which to compare later erectile 

measurements." Jason R. Odeshoo, Of Penology And Perversity: The Use 

of Penile Plethysmography on Convicted Child Sex Offenders, 14 Temp. 

Pol. & Civ. Rts. L. Rev. 1, 9 (2004). "After the individual has returned to 

a state of detumescence," he is presented with various "stimulus materials, 

auditory and visual, encouraging him to think about and look at materials 

indicative of sexual activity with different ages of people, different 

genders and different sexual activities." ld. at 9; Riles, 135 Wn.2d at 343 

n. 57. Some of the scenarios presented are extremely violent and 
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disturbing. RP 10. The gauge then is used to "determine the man's level 

of sexual attraction by measuring minute changes in his erectile 

responses." Odeshoo, supra, at 2. One commentator has described the 

procedure as more invasive than body cavity or strip searches. ld. at 23. 

Whether or not PPG is more physically intrusive than other physical tests, 

and whether or not it is more psychologically intrusive than other 

psychological tests, PPG "combines these physical and psychological 

invasion's in a way that other searches ... do not." I d. 

Here, the court ruled that there was "good cause" to require PPG 

based on Dr. Phenix's representation that the testing was "routinely relied 

upon" by evaluators assessing risk. CP 14 (Finding 3). But the court then 

concluded RCW 71.09.050(1) authorized testing simply upon request by a 

State's evaluator, without any requirement that the court exercise its 

discretion. CP 14 (Conclusion 2). The order violates substantive due 

process because it invades Brennan's personal autonomy without being 

narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling government interest. 

Constitutional violations are reviewed de novo. In re Det, of 

Strand, 167 Wn.2d 180, 186, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009). Substantive due 

process imposes limits on what a state may do, regardless of what 

procedural protections are provided. Harrington v. Almy, 977 F.2d 37, 43 

(1st Cir. 1992). To support a substantive due process claim, a challenged 
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act inust "shock the consCience" or constitute "a violation of an identified 

liberty or property interest." Id. (internal citations omitted). 

The Fourteenth Amendment provides "heightened protection 

against government interference with certain fundamental rights and 

liberty interests." Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 719, 117 S. 

Ct. 2258, 138 L. Ed. 2d 772 (1997). The right to personal autonomy in 

matters of sexual activity is a fundamental liberty interest, triggering strict 

constitutional scrutiny. Cf. Lawrence v. Texas; 59 U.S. 558, 578, 123 S. 

Ct. 2472, 156 L. Ed. 2d 508 (2003) (right to liberty under the due process 

clause includes th~ right to engage in consensual sexual conduct without 

interference from the government). If the right to privacy in sexual 

matters protects the choice to engage in sexual conduct, it must also 

protect the right· to refrain from sexual conduct. For example, in 

Harrington, the First Circuit reversed summary judgment against a 

suspended police officer required to submit to PPG testing as a· condition 

of reinstatement. 977 F .2d at 44-45. The court described the PPG process 

as "degrading" bodily manipulation and, reversing a summary judgment in 

favor of the defendant city, held that a reasonable fact finder could find the 

requirement violated substantive due process. Id. 

Article I, section 7 provides even greater protection for personal 

autonomy than the federal constitution. Butler v. Kato, 13 7 Wn. App. 
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515, 527, 154 P .3d 259 (2007). It protects the right to privacy with no 

express limitations. State v. Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d 103, 110, 960 P.2d 927 

( 1998). As the Court of Appeals pointed out, sex offenders have more 

limited privacy rights than do the general population based on public 

safety concerns. In re Det. of Williams, 163 Wn. App. 89, 97-99, 264 

P.3d 570 (2011) (the mental health evaluation permitted under statute was 

not limited to records review). But they do retain some level of privacy 

r"ights, especially in the face of intrusive physiological testing. In· re Det. 

of Hawkins, 169 Wn.2d 796, 803, 238 P.3d 1175, 1178 (2010) (as to 

respondents in 71.09 RCW proceedings, pretrial polygraph examinations 

are intrusive and implicate constitutional ·concerns); cf. McNabb v. Dep't 

of Corr., 163 Wn.2d 393, 404, 180 P.3d 1257 (2008) (inmate retains a 

limited right of privacy, including the limited right to refuse artificial 

means of nutrition and hydration). 

Interference with a fundamental right is constitutional only if the 

State can show that it has a compelling interest and such interference is 

narrowly drawn to meet that interest. In re Custody of Smith, 137 Wn.2d 

1, 15,969 P.2d 21 (1998) affd sub nom Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 

120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000); see also Butler, 137 Wn. App. at 

527 (infringement of fundamental right to autonomy under Washington's

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