SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 09, 2015, 1:28 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 9269-3

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 46524-8-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

DUANE BRENNAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

BROOKE BURBANK Assistant Attorney General WSBA #26680 / OID #91094 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 (206) 389-3017

I. INTRODUCTION AND DECISION BELOW

Duane Brennan seeks review of an October 20, 2015 decision by the Court of Appeals, *In re the Detention of Duane Brennan*, No. 46524-8-II, 2015 WL 6441717 (Wash. App. Div. II, October 20, 2015). The decision affirmed the trial court's order compelling a penile plethysmograph pursuant to RCW 71.09.050 after Brennan claimed he lied to the state's evaluator during a pre-trial evaluation about the extent of his sexual deviancy. The decision also affirmed the order holding Brennan in contempt and determined that Brennan had failed to demonstrate that his counsel was ineffective.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

This Court should deny review because this case presents no issues that warrant review under RAP 13.4(b). However, if the Court were to accept review, the following issues would be presented:

- A. Where Brennan stipulated to an order allowing the trial court to require physiological testing specifically authorized by statute, and where he later contended that he had previously lied to the State's evaluator about his sexual deviancy, history of sex offending, and risk to reoffend, did the trial court abuse its discretion by ordering Brennan to submit to physiological testing?
- B. Where the Statute specifically authorizes physiological testing, was counsel ineffective in stipulating to an order which tracked the statutory language authorizing such testing?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Duane Brennan was convicted of two counts of Child Molestation in the First Degree in Mason County in 2001 for repeatedly sexually abusing four children whose ages ranged from seven to ten. CP at 72. Brennan's offenses against these children began only a few months after his release from prison for a 1999 Assault conviction. CP at 72. In violation of the conditions of his release, Brennan moved in with a woman who had two young boys and began babysitting for them. CP at 72. When two young neighbor girls came over, he began grooming the four children by playing Truth or Dare, and getting the children to touch him. CP at 72. Brennan forced the children to sexually touch each other, and to pull their pants down. CP at 71. Brennan also made the girls touch and suck his penis, tried to put his penis in one of the girls' anus, and performed oral sex on both girls. CP at 71. Although he initially denied it, Brennan later confirmed what the children reported. CP at 73.

He was ultimately sentenced to a term of one hundred and thirty months in the department of corrections. CP at 73. Shortly before his scheduled release, the State filed a sexually violent predator (SVP) petition pursuant to RCW 71.09 on November 30, 2012. CP at 138-39. In support of its initial petition, the State submitted a 53-page psychological

evaluation of Brennan conducted by Dr. Amy Phenix, Ph.D. *Id.*; CP at 71-137.

As part of her evaluation Dr. Phenix conducted a clinical interview. CP at 88-137. Brennan admitted to a long history of sexual deviancy, including having approximately twenty-five unreported child victims. CP at 90-95; 116-18. Brennan admitted to engaging in repeated sexual contact with boys and girls between the ages of seven to fourteen, further admitting that his preference is for young girls ages nine to fourteen. CP at 116. He also admitted to his ongoing sexual fantasies of young children and stated that he believed if he was released he would molest a child again. CP at 116-17. Dr. Phenix relied upon these admissions as part of her opinion that Brennan met criteria for civil commitment under RCW 71.09. SUPP CP at 16.

On December 3, 2012, Brennan stipulated to the existence of probable cause and the Court ordered that he be detained at the Special Commitment Center for further evaluation. SUPP CP at 26-28. Consistent with RCW 71.09.050(1)¹, the order further provided that Brennan, shall

¹ RCW 71.09.050(1) provides, in pertinent part:

The prosecuting agency shall have a right to a current evaluation of the person by experts chosen by the state. The judge may require the person to complete any or all of the following procedures or tests if requested by the evaluator: (a) A clinical interview; (b) psychological testing; (c) plethysmograph testing; and (d) polygraph testing. The judge may order the person to complete any other procedures and tests relevant to the evaluation. (Emphasis added.)

submit to an evaluation by an expert chosen by the state and the evaluation may include "penile plethysmograph testing (PPG)." SUPP CP at 27. Brennan read the agreed order and had the opportunity to discuss the document with his attorney. SUPP CP at 26. The agreed order is signed by both Brennan and his attorney. SUPP CP at 28. He did not seek appellate review of this order.

A year later, in December 2013, Dr. Phenix received an evaluation conducted by Brennan's retained expert, Dr. Brian Abbott. SUPP CP at 16-17. When interviewed by Dr. Abbott, Brennan recanted a number of admissions he had made to Dr. Phenix. CP at 63-64; SUPP CP at 16-17. He stated that he does not fantasize about young children, that he does not have an additional twenty five unreported child victims, and that he does not believe he will reoffend if released into the community. CP at 63-64; SUPP CP at 16-17. Dr. Abbott's evaluation was the first time the State and Dr. Phenix had learned that Brennan had disavowed statements that Dr. Phenix had relied on as part of her opinion that Brennan met criteria for civil commitment. CP at 62-64.

After reviewing Dr. Abbott's evaluation, Dr. Phenix re-interviewed Brennan in December of 2013. SUPP CP at 17. During this second interview Brennan informed Dr. Phenix that he had fabricated the existence of unreported victims, his sexual fantasies of children, and his

belief that he would reoffend if released. SUPP CP at 17. Based on the statements that he had lied to her previously, Dr. Phenix requested Brennan participate in a sexual history polygraph as well as a penile plethysmograph (PPG). SUPP CP at 17. He refused to participate in such testing. SUPP CP at 22-23.

The State filed a motion and supporting memorandum requesting the trial court compel Brennan to participate in the requested physiological testing. SUPP CP at 2-25. The State based this request, among other arguments, on 1) the language in the statute authorizing such testing if requested by the evaluator, 2) on the stipulated order finding probable cause, which provided these tests would be permitted upon request of the State's evaluator, and 3) a declaration from Dr. Phenix requesting the physiological testing because of Brennan's questionable veracity. SUPP CP at 2-25. On June 30, 2014, the trial court ordered Brennan to participate in the physiological testing requested by the State's evaluator. CP at 13-15. At a hearing held on July 7, 2014, Brennan informed the trial court that he would not comply with the court's order. RP at 38. Based on his refusal to comply with the court's lawful order, the trial court held Brennan in contempt. CP at 10-12. The trial court stayed the proceedings until Brennan purged his contempt by completing the requested physiological testing. CP at 10-12.

Brennan appealed to Division Two of the Court of Appeals, challenging the order compelling the penile plethysmograph, asserting that the order finding him in contempt was erroneous because the underlying order was unlawful.² CP at 2-9. The Court of Appeals held that the order compelling a plethysmograph did not infringe on his constitutional rights and he failed to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel. This Court should deny review.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Acceptance of review of a decision of the Court of Appeals is governed by RAP 13.4(b). Although Brennan alleges that his Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4)), he does not demonstrate that this is in fact the case. This case involves a clear application of judicial discretion, does not conflict with any decisions of this Court or any other appellate court, and does not present a significant question of law under the Constitution. Because the issues presented in his Petition do not meet any of the specified criteria for review, this Court should deny this review.

² Brennan did not assign error to the stipulated order of probable cause, or the imposed sanction. Consequently, he has waived any challenge to those orders. RAP 10.3(g). Emmerson v. Weilep, 126 Wn. App. 930, 939-40, 110 P.3d 214 (2005) (citing Escude ex rel. Escude v. King County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 2, 117 Wn. App. 183, 190, 69 P.3d 895 (2003)(It is well settled that a party's failure to assign error to or provide argument and citation to authority in support of an assignment of error, as required under RAP 10.3, precludes appellate consideration of an alleged error.)

V. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That Physiological Testing as Part of a Comprehensive Mental Examination Does Not Violate Brennan's Limited Rights to Privacy

Brennan argues that the trial court, by ordering testing that 1) he agreed to and 2) is specifically authorized by the statute, violated his substantive due process right to privacy.³ In doing so, Brennan attempts to "constitutionalize" his various challenges to the trial court's discretionary discovery ruling. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument, noting that his arguments are "based on his misconception that sex offenders have limitless privacy rights." *Brennan*, 2015 WL 6441717 at *6. Likewise, Brennan's argument that his substantive due process rights were violated by the potential use of an "unreliable" test such as the PPG lacks merit where Washington courts have repeatedly held that PPG testing is useful as part of a diagnostic process and where Brennan's challenge goes to the weight of the evidence rather than the constitutionality of the superior court's order. Finally, the language of the order compelling the PPG testing mirrors statutory language, and any

³ As noted by the Court of Appeals, Brennan does not appear to challenge the constitutionality of RCW 71.09.050(1). *See Brennan*, 2015 WL 6441717 at *4. Rather, he appears to challenge the constitutionality of the superior court's order requiring the PPG testing. *Id.*

claim that it does not is, as noted by the Court of Appeals, "factually incorrect." *Brennan*, 2015 WL 6441717 at *9.

Brennan further asserts that the State has "less intrusive means" of evaluating him, despite the fact that the state attempted a less intrusive means of evaluation by interviewing him before Brennan claimed to have lied regarding the extent of his sexual deviancy. His arguments ignore the plain language of the statute, and the facts of the case. He further makes the incomprehensible argument that the trial court failed to use its own discretion when issuing the (discretionary) ruling. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected all of Brennan's arguments. This court should deny review.

1. Brennan's Truncated Privacy Rights Are Outweighed By The State's Compelling Interest In Treating And Incapacitating Dangerous Sexual Offenders

Brennan argues that the trial court's order compelling him to submit to a PPG "violates substantive due process because it invades Brennan's personal autonomy without being narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling government interest." Pet. at 12. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument, correctly recognizing that Brennan, as a convicted sex offender, has a reduced privacy interest. *Brennan*, 2015 WL 6441717 at *4-5. Washington case law specifically recognizes that the State's substantial interest in public safety outweighs the truncated privacy

interests of the convicted sex offender. In re the Detention of Williams, 163 Wn. App 89, 97, 264 P.3d 570 (2011). Sex offenders have reduced privacy interests because they threaten public safety. Id. at 97; see also In re Det. Of Campbell, 139 Wn.2d 341, 356, 986 P.2d 771 (1999) ("grave" and "substantial" public safety interests outweigh the truncated privacy interests of convicted sex offenders). Furthermore, this Court long ago affirmed the importance of forensic evaluations in sex predator proceedings. "The mental abnormalities or personality disorders involved with predatory behavior may not be immediately apparent. Thus, their cooperation with the diagnosis and treatment procedures is essential." In re the Detention of Andre Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 52, 857 P.2d 989 (1993).

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Brennan's repeated efforts to rely on *United States v. Weber*, 451 F.3d 552 (9th Cir. 2006) in support of his argument. *Brennan*, 2015 WL 6441717 at *5-6. *Weber*, the court correctly noted, did not hold PPG testing unconstitutional. The *Weber* court merely decided that before PPG testing can be imposed as a term of supervised release in a criminal case, the trial court must make an individualized determination that the testing is necessary. 451 F.3d at 569-70. The *Weber* Court acknowledged that PPG testing "has become routine in the treatment of sexual offenders and is often imposed as a condition of supervised release." *Id.* at 554 Moreover, even if the *Weber* standard

requiring "an individualized determination that the testing is necessary" were applied here, such an individualized determination was in fact made, where the testing was ordered based primarily on Brennan's own conduct.

Finally, Brennan repeatedly asserts there are other, less intrusive, methods to assess sexual deviancy. Pet. at 1, 9, 18, & 20. He never, however, articulates what these other means might be. Brennan ignores the fact that Dr. Phenix did employ a "less intrusive" means by initially interviewing him without requesting a PPG. It was during this "less intrusive" interview that Brennan told her that he had sexually assaulted numerous children and would do it again. CP at 116-17. Dr. Phenix took him at his word, and was satisfied that she had correctly assessed his level of sexual deviancy and dangerousness. It was only when he subsequently claimed that he had lied to her that she requested the testing that could corroborate his self-report. CP at 62-64; SUPP CP at 17.

Brennan's truncated privacy interests are outweighed by the "grave" and "substantial" public safety interests protected by the SVP law. *In re Det. Of Campbell*, 139 Wn.2d 341, 356, 986 P.2d 771 (1999). The trial court's order furthered those substantial interests in public safety, and

⁴ Brennan appears to be claiming that the actuarial instruments can determine sexual deviancy. Pet. at 6, N 2. This is false. Actuarials only measure risk for certain forms of reoffense and are not designed to determine sexual deviancy. *In re the Detention of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 753 - 58, 72 P.3d 708 (2003).

the Court of Appeals correctly denied Brennan's challenge. This Court should deny review.

2. It Is Not An Abuse Of Discretion To Enter An Order Requiring Testing Specifically Permitted By The Governing Statute And When The Parties Stipulate To Such An Order

Brennan next argues that the stipulated order compelling PPG testing was unlawful because it did not mirror the language of RCW 71.09.050(1), and did not require the court to exercise discretion.⁵ Pet. at 12, 15, 19, 20. This, he argues, violated his rights to privacy because "although the court found Dr. Phenix had 'requested' the testing, the court made no finding Dr. Phenix *needed to* rely on such invasive testing in forming her opinions. "Pet. at 15 (emphasis in original). These arguments fail for several reasons. As a threshold matter and as noted by the Court of Appeals, Brennan did not seek review of the stipulated order, and offered no authority "for the proposition that he can now challenge an unappealed stipulated order for the first time with no assignment of error." *Brennan*, 2015 WL 6441717 at *8; RAP 10.3. Nor does Brennan make any cogent

⁵ Brennan asserts that "[t]he court ...concluded RCW 71.09.050(1) authorized testing simply upon request by a State's evaluator, without any requirement that the court exercise its discretion. CP 14 (Conclusion 2)" Pet. at 12. Elsewhere, he urges that "the court ordered [sic] ruled that RCW 71.09.050(1) authorized PPG testing upon any request by an expert. CP 14 (Conclusion 2)" Pet. at 15. In addition, he argues that it is invalid because it was "entered without the required balancing of interests." Pet. at 19. Finally, Brennan argues that the defense stipulation, "which differs from the statutory language, arguably removed the judge's discretion." Pet. at 20.

argument to suggest that the superior court erred in relying on an order to which Brennan stipulated and at no point challenged. Relying on *Cowich Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) and RAP 10.3, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that it "need not address Brennan's argument." *Brennan*, 2015 WL 6441717 at *8.

Even if these arguments were considered, they fail, based as they are on misrepresentations both of the record and of the language of the statute.

Conclusion of Law No. 2, cited by Brennan, reads as follows:

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